

**BYLAWS
OF THE CLEVE J. FREDRICKSEN ASSOCIATION
AS REVISED: 10/11/17**

**ARTICLE I
NAME**

Section 1 - The name of this Association shall be CLEVE J. FREDRICKSEN LIBRARY ASSOCIATION.

Section 2 – The Cleve J. Fredricksen Library is located at 100 N. 19th Street, Camp Hill, Pennsylvania 17011 and the East Pennsboro Branch is located at 98 South Enola Drive, Enola, Pennsylvania 17025.

Section 3 – The Service Area includes: The Boroughs of Camp Hill, Lemoyne, and Wormleysburg; and the Townships of East Pennsboro, Hampden, and Lower Allen.

**ARTICLE II
PURPOSE AND MISSION**

Section 1 - This association is organized as a non-profit public corporation to establish, maintain and nurture a public library in Cumberland County, Pennsylvania.

Section 2 - The mission of the library is to transform lives through the power of information, imagination, and ideas.

Section 3 – Cleve J. Fredricksen Library and the East Pennsboro Branch support the Cumberland County Library System in their mission of planning, developing, coordinating and providing comprehensive public library services for residents through a cooperative network of public libraries.

**ARTICLE III
MEMBERSHIP**

Each holder of a current card issued by the Cleve J. Fredricksen Library or each annual contributor shall be considered a member of the Association.

**ARTICLE IV
MEETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION**

Section 1 – Annual Membership Meeting – The regular meeting of the members shall be held annually the second week of January. Notice of the time and place of meeting shall be given at least five (5) days in advance to the public and on the library website. The paramount order of business at the Annual Meeting of the membership shall be the election of Trustees, presentation

and approval of the annual budget and any other business lawfully brought before the members. Only members of the Association may vote on any matter before the Association.

Section 2 – Special Membership Meetings – Special meetings may be called by the President at any time, and must be called when requested by ten (10) members of the Association. Action shall be limited to the items mentioned in the call to the meeting.

Section 3 – Quorum of the Members – Those members of the Association attending a regular or special membership meeting shall constitute a quorum.

ARTICLE V BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 1 -The management of the affairs of the Association shall be vested in a Board of Trustees.

Section 2 – Elections -Trustees shall be elected by the membership at the annual meeting.

Section 3 -The Board shall consist of:

- a. Elected Trustees. Thirteen trustees shall be elected by the members of the Association at the annual meeting to terms of three years, staggered so that the terms of not more than five (5) trustees shall expire in one year. Elected trustees may serve a total of two terms. After a year's absence, they may be re-nominated to the board.
- b. Appointed Trustees. One trustee may be appointed by the governing body of each municipality that is within the library's service area and may continue service at the discretion of the municipality.
- c. Friends of the Library. One non-voting member may be appointed annually by each Friends of the Library group. These members shall serve a one-year term and shall serve on the Development Committee. Friends representatives may not serve as an Officer of the Board.
- d. Associate Member. The Nominating Committee may nominate, and the Board may elect to membership at the annual meeting, a total of 9 non- voting members of the Board, known as Associates.

Associate membership shall be limited to those persons who have served as active members of the Board, and have exhibited and continue to exhibit unusual interest in the affairs, progress and the development of the Fredricksen Library and its East Pennsboro Branch. The term of such membership shall be for a period of one year, and the Associates may be re-elected.

Section 4 – Vacancies - A vacancy occurring in the Trustees shall be filled by a vote of the attending members of the Board after recommendation of the Nominating Subcommittee. A person who is elected to fulfill the unexpired term of another member shall be eligible to serve two (2) full terms.

Section 5 – Meetings - There shall be a minimum of six regular board meetings annually. The date of these meetings shall be published and/or posted at the library. The Board shall meet the second week of the month. The day of the meeting is at the discretion of the Board. Special meetings may be called by the President at any time, and must be called when requested by six (6) trustees. Action shall be limited to the items mentioned in the call to the meeting.

Section 6 – Quorum - Ten (10) voting trustees shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. A trustee shall be considered in attendance if participating by telephone or similar means provided that all persons participating are able to hear or otherwise communicate with each other.

Section 7 – Attendance - A trustee who fails to attend two (2) successive regular meetings of the Board without notifying the President of the Board may be asked to resign. A Trustee may be removed, without cause, as determined by a two-thirds vote of the Board present at any meeting at which there is a quorum.

ARTICLE VI OFFICERS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 1 – Elections – Immediately following the Annual Meeting of the membership, the elected Board of Trustees shall meet for the purpose of organization and to act upon any business that might come before the Board.

Section 2 – Officers – The Board of Trustees shall elect from its members a President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Parliamentarian and any other officers as may be deemed necessary by the Board to serve until the next January meeting of the Board.

Section 3 – Terms – The officers shall serve for a term of one year (or longer), or until their successors have been chosen. The Assistant Treasurer and Vice President are expected to assume the positions of Treasurer and President, respectively, upon the completion of the term or terms of the presiding Treasurer and President. A vacancy occurring in any office shall be filled by majority vote of the attending members of the Board after recommendation of the Nominating Subcommittee.

Section 4 – Duties – the President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurer shall perform duties as described in Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised.

ARTICLE VII DUTIES OF OFFICERS

Section 1 – The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board, appoint all committees, and in
October 11, 2017

general, assume all the duties of the office. The President may sign or give permission to the Library Directors to sign all deeds, contracts, mortgages, bonds, unless otherwise ordered by the Board, and, in general, assume all the duties of the office. The President shall be a member, ex officio, of Standing and Ad Hoc Committees with the exception of the Nominating Committee.

Section 2 – It shall be the Duty of the vice-President to act as President of the Board if, for any reason, the President is prevented from discharging the duties of the office.

Section 3 – The Secretary shall keep a correct record of the proceedings of all the meetings of the Board, including Board attendance. A copy of the minutes shall be filed by the Secretary with the Library Director within one week of the date of the meeting.

Section 4 – The Treasurer shall be responsible for all financial affairs of the Library and shall present a written financial report at each regular meeting. A copy of the written financial report shall be filed by the Treasurer in a designated file in the Library. The Treasurer shall relinquish the financial records of the Library, annually, for the purpose of audit, as requested, and shall turn over any and all funds, records, and properties of the Library to his or her successor when authorized to do so.

Section 5 – The assistant Treasurer shall assume the duties of the Treasurer in the absence of the Treasurer.

Section 6 – The President, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, and Library Directors are authorized check signers on library accounts and are authorized to open and close accounts, renew CDs and transfer funds with the prior knowledge and approval of the Finance Committee. Two signatures are required on checks over \$5000.

ARTICLE VIII COMMITTEES

Section 1 – Standing Committees shall be appointed by the President within a month of the annual meeting and Ad Hoc Committees shall be appointed by the President as needed. The Board President and Library Directors shall be ex-officio members of each committee with the exception of the Nominating Committee.

Section 2 - The Standing Committees shall be:

- a. An **Executive Committee** shall be composed of the President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, Parliamentarian and Past President and the chairs of all standing committees of the Board. It shall be empowered to transact necessary and emergency business between scheduled board meetings. Emergency business shall be defined as that on which a decision must be made promptly in order to protect the property or interest of the library. The Executive Committee shall conduct an annual review of both Library Directors' job performances and report its evaluations to the Board. This committee shall interview the candidates for Library Director and East Pennsboro Branch Library Director and submit a recommendation to the Board.

- b. A **Finance Committee** shall prepare the budget of the Association for consideration by the Board at the December meeting and present it for approval by the membership at the annual meeting. This committee shall oversee the financial operation to ensure there is an annual audit with the recommendations therein followed, and that sound fiscal management practices are maintained. It shall oversee, review, and manage the Endowment, Memorial, Building, and Operating funds and make recommendations regarding any changes. It shall consult with the Library Directors, Personnel, Facilities and the Development Committees to determine funding for all areas of the budget. It shall provide information to the Board about State, County, and local funding so that appropriate advocacy campaigns can be focused on how this will impact the budget and programs.
- c. A **Governance/Nominating Committee** shall provide direction and guidance for the establishment of Board policies and procedures. It shall review the bylaws and library policies and suggest amendments or changes to the Board. It shall maintain a program for recruiting, training and assimilating new trustees to ensure understanding of board policies and committee obligations. It shall provide a parliamentarian for the Board.
A **Nominating Committee** shall be a subcommittee of the Governance Committee. It shall propose qualified members of the Association to serve as trustees, and identify and cultivate leadership of officers. Candidates must have agreed to serve before they are nominated. It shall present a slate of officers at the last Board meeting of the year to be voted on at the first Board meeting of the year. New trustees shall be nominated for election at the Annual Meeting of the Association in January.
- d. A **Personnel Committee** shall provide direction and guidance for the management of paid staff and volunteers, periodically review the personnel policy, and conduct grievance hearings. The committee shall coordinate with the finance committee on actions with financial impact, including pay scales, salaries, and benefits.
- e. A **Facilities Committee** shall provide direction and guidance for the maintenance and upkeep of the building and surrounding properties. It shall make recommendations to the Finance Committee for inclusion in the Operating Budget.
- f. A **Development Committee** shall formulate and oversee the annual appeals and any special fund raising projects. It shall explore and secure new sources of revenue. It shall coordinate with the finance committee to establish funding goals. It shall develop strategies to attract new donors and determine ways to provide information and understanding of library services and needs to government officials, the general public, and other funding sources.

ARTICLE IX THE LIBRARY DIRECTORS

Section 1 – The Board of Trustees shall employ professionally qualified persons, as required by Commonwealth Libraries, to serve as Library Directors.

Section 2 – As agent of the Board of Trustees, the Library Directors shall supervise the other members of the staff, coordinate the work of volunteers, and foster relations with the Friends of the Library and the public. The Library directors shall have custody of the building, grounds, furniture, equipment and other library materials, and shall be responsible for their proper operation, use and care, as well as for the maintenance of appropriate institutional records in the best tradition of the library profession.

Section 3 – The Library Directors shall prepare each calendar month a written report on the operations of the library, shall advise the Trustees on professional matters, and in general, except when excused, shall attend the Board's meetings.

Section 4 – The Library Directors shall be generally accountable to the Treasurer each month for the petty cash fund and for fines, fees, cash contributions and other cash received at the library.

ARTICLE X FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES

The Treasurer, assisted by the Directors, is the legal officer named to ensure that financial operations are being properly handled and otherwise manages the funds of the Association. At each meeting of the Board, the Treasurer shall submit financial reports which will afford the Board an accurate view of the finances of the Association. Items not within the budget in any amount over \$5,000 shall require Board approval. The Directors shall maintain the financial records of the Association. The Association shall secure adequate insurance to ensure protection of library assets from alleged wrongful acts on the part of employees or trustees. The Assistant Treasurer shall participate with the Treasurer in the financial activities of the Board and meetings of the Finance Committee of the Cumberland County Library System.

ARTICLE XI PERSONAL LIABILITY OF TRUSTEES

No Trustee shall be personally liable for monetary damages which result from any action taken or from failure to take any action in his role as Trustee of the Library unless: the said Trustee has breached his fiduciary duty, failed to act in good faith or failed to act in the best interest of the Cleve J. Fredricksen Library or the East Pennsboro Branch Library; and the above breach or failure to perform constitutes self-dealing, willful misconduct or recklessness. The exemption from personal liability shall not apply to any Trustee who is deemed liable pursuant to criminal statute or who may be liable for payment of any local, state, or federal taxes.

ARTICLE XII RULES OF ORDER

ROBERT'S RULES OF ORDER, NEWLY REVISED shall be followed in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these By-laws and any special rules or order the Association may adopt.

ARTICLE XIII DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY

Upon the dissolution of the Association, the Board shall, after payment of all liabilities, dispose of all the assets of the Association exclusively for the purposes, and in such manner, or to such organizations founded and operated exclusively for charitable or educational purposes as shall at that time qualify for exemption under Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

ARTICLE XIV AMENDMENTS

The Bylaws may be amended by a two-thirds vote of the Trustees present at any meeting of the Board provided that the proposed amendment has been presented to the Board in writing at the meeting prior to that at which action is to be taken, or has been submitted in writing to each member of the Board at least ten days prior to the vote.

Amended: 11/13/13
Amended: 12/19/12
Amended: 12/10/09
Amended: 12/09/04
Amended: 1/20/15
Amended: 8/12/16
Revised 10/11/2017